
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE

AT WINCHESTER

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA )
)

v. ) 4:11-cr-11
)

BARNEY DAVIS; ) Judge Mattice/Carter
CHRISTEN ALTMAN; )
JEFFERY BRADFORD; and )
PAUL BLACKBURN )

SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT

COUNT ONE
[Conspiracy to Violate the Horse Protection Act]

18 U.S.C. § 371

THE GRAND JURY CHARGES THAT:

A. The Conspiracy and its Purpose:

 From approximately in or about 2002, and continuing until approximately on or about March 18,

2011, in the Eastern District of Tennessee and elsewhere, defendants BARNEY DAVIS, CHRISTEN

ALTMAN, JEFFERY BRADFORD, PAUL BLACKBURN, and others known and unknown to the grand

jury, did wilfully, knowingly, and intentionally combine, conspire, confederate and agree together and

with each other to commit offenses against the United States, that is: they conspired to violate the federal

Horse Protection Act by intentionally transporting or delivering one or more horses, and showing,

exhibiting, or entering one or more horses in a show or exhibition while knowing that the horse or horses

were in pain or otherwise sore (commonly known as to “sore” or  “soring” horses), and falsifying entry

forms and other related paperwork, in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Sections 1824(1),

1824(2)(B), and 1825(2)(B).
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B. The Horse Protection Act: 

The Horse Protection Act (HPA), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1821-1831, prohibits showing, exhibiting,

auctioning, and selling sore horses, transporting or moving sore horses for such purposes, and falsifying

records that are required under the Act and United States Department of Agriculture (hereinafter

“USDA”)  regulations. Soring is a cruel practice used to accentuate a horse's gait in order to gain a

competitive edge in horse shows undertaken with the belief that competitive horse show judges will value

a high-stepping gait called the "big lick" - a high reach of the front legs with a long, gliding stride behind. 

It is accomplished by injecting or applying chemicals onto a horse's forelegs, hind legs, and hooves, or

by applying mechanical irritants to a horse's front or back legs.  These techniques create soreness and pain

in a horse’s feet, causing it to quickly lift its front feet in order to relieve the pain.   Tennessee Walking

Horses and Spotted Saddle Horses are frequent victims of soring. Congress enacted HPA to discourage

this inhumane practice and prevent those who use soring from gaining a competitive edge over owners

and trainers who do not. 

C. The United States Department of Agriculture's (USDA) Animal and Plant Health

Inspection Service (APHIS) enforces HPA.  Given limited budgetary resources, USDA only makes

appearances at around seven to ten percent of horse shows, and, accordingly, to facilitate enforcement

of HPA, designates qualified persons (hereinafter “DQPs”) to be trained and licensed by a

USDA-certified horse industry organization (HIO) to inspect for soreness.  DQPs are hired by horse sale

or show managers and are responsible for physically inspecting every horse for soreness.

D.        Objects of the Conspiracy:

 The objects of the conspiracy were to operate a commercial horse boarding and competitive

training business under the false pretense of running a fully HPA compliant business and receive financial

payments for such HPA compliant services, all while knowing and intentionally using at times the
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practice of “soring” or otherwise inflecting pain or injury on horses under the defendants’ care in order

to win horse shows and competitions without being detected by the USDA or DQPs and thereby obtain

additional customers to increase the commercial income and benefit of DAVIS.

E. Manner and Means of the Conspiracy:

It was a part of this conspiracy that defendant DAVIS owned a business training and boarding

Spotted Saddle Horses, which he was responsible for preparing for horse shows.

F. It was a further a part of this conspiracy that the defendant DAVIS and others known and

unknown to the grand jury utilized various methods to “sore” horses before competition to improve their

gait in front of the judges, with such soring methods to include placing bolts in horses’ feet, taping blocks

to horses’ feet, applying chemical irritants to horses’ legs, and other soring measures.

G. It was further a part of this conspiracy that defendant DAVIS and others known and

unknown to the grand jury would attempt to mask the soring efforts by removing the exterior soring

devices prior to inspection and giving horses shots to reduce the level of their reactions to inspections.

H. It was further a part of this conspiracy that defendants DAVIS and ALTMAN would use

other individuals as nominee trainers to obtain “trainers licenses.”

I. It was further a part of this conspiracy that Davis would attempt to protect himself from

being “cited” or “ticketed” for violations by using the nominees to enter and show horses he was hired

to train in order to deceive DQPs and cause them to “cite” or “ticket” the nominee trainer for a horse’s

soreness if the soreness were discovered during inspections.

J.  It was further a part of this conspiracy that defendants DAVIS, ALTMAN,  BRADFORD,

BLACKBURN, and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, agreed to falsify the entry forms and

other paperwork associated with various shows by intentionally and falsely claiming that BRADFORD,

BLACKBURN, and others were the trainers for particular horses that DAVIS had actually trained.
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K. Overt Acts:

In order to further and accomplish the objects of the conspiracy, the following overt acts, among

others, were committed by defendants DAVIS, ALTMAN, BRADFORD, BLACKBURN, and others

known and unknown to the grand jury, in the Eastern District of Tennessee and elsewhere.

1. Beginning  in or about 2002 and continuing through on or about March 18, 2011,

defendant DAVIS directed individuals to sore horses in his care, including but not limited to inserting

bolts in horses’ feet and taping horses’ feet to blocks.

 2. Defendant DAVIS directed others to remove or mask external soring devices prior

to the inspections at horse shows.

3. Defendant DAVIS gave some horses shots to prevent them from reacting

negatively to inspections.

4. Defendants DAVIS and ALTMAN arranged for workers at DAVIS’s barn to obtain

trainer’s licenses in order to be listed as trainers on the paperwork at horse shows.

5. In or about May 2010, defendant ALTMAN paid the trainer’s license fee for

defendant BRADFORD.

6. On or about July 30, 2010, defendant DAVIS placed and caused to be placed a bolt

in the hoof of the horse, Jose is My Daddy, prior to a horse show in Manchester, Tennessee.

7. On or about July 30, 2010, defendant ALTMAN falsely listed defendant

BRADFORD as the trainer for the horse, Jose is My Daddy, on the entry paperwork for the Manchester,

Tennessee horse show.

8. On or about July 30, 2010, defendant ALTMAN forged defendant BRADFORD’s

signature on the entry paperwork for the horse, Jose is My Daddy, at the Manchester, Tennessee horse

show.
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9. In or about September, 2010, defendant DAVIS advised potential witnesses not

to cooperate with an investigation by authorities into his soring practice.

10. On or about October 1 and 2, 2010, after having received a lifetime ban from

participating in horse shows, defendant DAVIS entered horses he was paid to train at the Spotted Saddle

Horse Breeders and Exhibitors’ Association Fall Show in Shelbyville, Tennessee.

11. On or about October 2, 2010, defendants ALTMAN, DAVIS, and BLACKBURN

falsely listed defendant BLACKBURN as the trainer for the horse, Silver Dollar Son, also known as

“Silver Dollar Sun,” on the entry paperwork for the Spotted Saddle Horse Breeds & Exhibitors

(“SSHBEA”) 26  Annual Fall Show held in Shelbyville, Tennessee.  Defendant BLACKBURN receivedth

a DQP citation for Silver Dollar Son, also known as  “Silver Dollar Sun,” being unilaterally sore during

inspection.

12. On or about October 13, 2010, defendant ALTMAN falsely claimed that defendant

BRADFORD was scheduled to participate and act as a trainer in the July 30, 2010, Manchester,

Tennessee horse show on behalf of defendant DAVIS. 

13. On or about October 13, 2010, defendant BRADFORD falsely claimed that he was

scheduled to participate and act as a trainer in the July 30, 2010, Manchester, Tennessee horse show on

behalf of defendant DAVIS. 

14. On or about November 9, 2010, defendants ALTMAN and BLACKBURN

endorsed a winnings check dated November 5, 2010, from SSHBEA for “Sweepstakes,” payable to

BLACKBURN, and deposited said check into defendant DAVIS’s bank account.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.
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COUNTS TWO THROUGH FOURTEEN 
[Wire Fraud]

18 U.S.C. § 1343

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:

A. The Scheme to Defraud:

Beginning in or about 2002, and continuing until in or about March 18, 2011, in the Eastern

District of Tennessee and elsewhere, defendants, BARNEY DAVIS and CHRISTEN ALTMAN, did

devise and intend to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud and to obtain money and property from horse

training and boarding clients, by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises,

and with reckless disregard for the truth of such pretenses, representations and promises.  The scheme

and artifice to defraud and to obtain money so devised and intended to be devised by the defendants was

in substance as follows:

1. It was a part of the scheme to defraud that defendant BARNEY DAVIS trained and

boarded Tennessee Walking Horses, Spotted Saddle Horses, and other varieties of horses which he was

responsible for preparing for pleasure use and horse shows, at “Monopoly Farm,” formerly known as

“Hidden Cedar Stables,” located in Lewisburg, Tennessee, under the auspices of training them in a

manner conforming and in compliance with the standards set forth in the Horse Protection Act (HPA). 

2. It was a further a part of the scheme to defraud that defendant BARNEY DAVIS, and

others known and unknown to the Grand Jury would utilize various methods violative of the Horse

Protection Act to “sore” horses before competition for the intended purpose of improving their

performance in front of the judges during horse shows, exhibitions, and competitions so as to obtain

greater prize ranking and money, with such soring methods to include, but not limited to, placing bolts

in horses feet, taping blocks to horses feet, applying chemical irritants, and other soring measures.
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3. It was further a part of the scheme that defendant BARNEY DAVIS would attempt to

mask or conceal the soring efforts by removing the exterior soring devices prior to inspection and giving

horses shots to reduce the level of their reactions to inspections.

4. It was further a part of the scheme that defendants BARNEY DAVIS and CHRISTEN

ALTMAN would receive payments from commercial horse boarding and training clients in the form of

bank checks drawn from bank accounts located outside the State of Tennessee for the purported HPA

compliant commercial services and deposit said checks into an account held by DAVIS and utilized by

ALTMAN.  On August 1, 2010, DAVIS instructed customers of “Monopoly Farm,” formerly known as

“Hidden Cedar Stable,” to make their checks payable to ALTMAN, who then endorsed said checks,

which were ultimately deposited into DAVIS’S bank account, including but not limited to First

Community Bank, located in Shelbyville, Tennessee.

B.  The Execution:

On or about the dates listed below, in the Eastern District of Tennessee and elsewhere, the 

defendants, BARNEY DAVIS and CHRISTEN ALTMAN, for the purpose of executing the aforesaid

scheme and artifice to defraud and attempting to do so, did knowingly transmit and cause to be

transmitted, from the First National Bank, Pontotoc, Mississippi, and from US Bank, St. Paul, Minnesota,

into Tennessee, by means of wire communication in interstate and foreign commerce, certain writings,

signs, signals and sounds.

Count Approximate Date Amount of funds wire transferred and
originating bank and state

2 On or about January 15, 2009 $515.00 (First National Bank, MS)

3 On or about February 15, 2009 $515.00 (First National Bank, MS)

4 On or about March 15, 2009 $515.00 (First National Bank, MS)
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5 On or about March 2, 2010 $415.00 (US Bank, MN)

6 On or about April 5, 2010 $515.00 (US Bank, MN)

7 On or about May 1, 2010 $690.00 (US Bank, MN)

8 On or about June 3, 2010 $1,105.00 (US Bank, MN)

9 On or about June 30, 2010 $1,320.00 (US Bank, MN)

10 On or about July 30, 2010 $1,155.00 (US Bank, MN)

11 On or about July 30, 2010 $1,000.00 (US Bank, MN)

12 On or about August 24, 2010 $821.00 (US Bank, MN)

13 On or about October 8, 2010 $1,240.00 (US Bank, MN)

14 On or about December 5, 2010 $1,040.00 (US Bank, MN)

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343.

FORFEITURE ALLEGATIONS - WIRE FRAUD

1. The allegations contained in Counts Two through Fourteen of this Indictment are hereby

realleged and incorporated by reference for the purpose of alleging forfeitures pursuant to Title 18, United

States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C) and Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461.

2. Upon conviction of an offense in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343 

as set forth in Counts Two through Fourteen of this Indictment, defendants BARNEY DAVIS and

CHRISTEN ALTMAN shall forfeit to the United States of America, pursuant to Title 18, United States

Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C) and Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461, any property, real and

personal, which constitutes or is derived from proceeds traceable to the offense. 

3. If any of the property described above, as a result of any act or omission of any of the

defendants: a.) cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence; b.) has been transferred or sold to,

or deposited with, a third party; c.) has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court; d.) has been
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substantially diminished in value; or e.) has been commingled with other property which cannot be

divided without difficulty, the United States of America shall be entitled to forfeiture of substitute

property pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p), as incorporated by Title 28, United

States Code, Section 2461(c).

COUNT FIFTEEN 
[Money Laundering Conspiracy]

18 U.S.C. § 1956(h)

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:

A.  At All Times Material Herein:

The Grand Jury realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations set forth in Parts A and B

of Count Two through Fourteen above.

B.  The Conspiracy:

Beginning as early as 2002, and continuing to on or about March 18, 2011, in the Eastern District

of Tennessee and elsewhere, defendants BARNEY DAVIS and CHRISTEN ALTMAN, and others

known and unknown to the Grand Jury, did knowingly combine, conspire, confederate, and agree with

others known and unknown to the Grand Jury to knowingly conduct and attempt to conduct financial

transactions with the proceeds of unlawful activity, which in fact involved the proceeds of specified

unlawful activity, that is, wire fraud by operating a horse training business under false pretenses and

representations while knowingly and intentionally using methods prohibited by the Horse Protection Act

in order to obtain money from commercial clients who pay funds based upon said false pretenses and

representations, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1344 with intent to promote the

carrying on of the specified unlawful activity, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section

1956(a)(1)(A)(i). 
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C.  Manner and Means:

In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the objects thereof, defendants BARNEY DAVIS

and CHRISTEN ALTMAN  knowingly employed among others the following manner and means in the

Eastern District of Tennessee and elsewhere:

1.  Defendants would and did solicit and receive payments for horse boarding and training

services that were represented orally and in some cases in writing to be conducted in a manner compliant

with the Horse Protection Act.

2.  Defendant DAVIS then knowingly and intentionally employed and utilized illegal training

methods on horses in his custody and care in violation of the Horse Protection Act, and utilized other

individuals to fraudulently enter horses into horse shows after DAVIS had been banned from training and

showing horses.  

3.  Defendants would and did then use those funds to make payments to various independent

contractors who worked for the defendants in their training and boarding business and who showed horses

on their behalf, and to supply stores to purchase horse feed, hay, and supplies for the benefit of the

defendants to promote and operate their fraudulent business enterprise.

   All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(h).

COUNTS 16 THROUGH 28
[Money Laundering]

18 U.S.C. §§ 1956(a)(1)(A)(I) and 2

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:

A.  At All Times Material Herein:

The Grand Jury realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations set forth in Parts A and B
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above of Count Two above.

B.  The Money Laundering:

The Grand Jury further charges that on or about the dates listed below in the Eastern District of

Tennessee, defendants BARNEY DAVIS and CHRISTEN ALTMAN did knowingly conduct and attempt

to conduct financial transactions affecting interstate commerce, which financial transactions involved the

proceeds of specified unlawful activity, that is, wire fraud by operating a horse training business  under

false pretenses and representations while knowingly and intentionally using methods prohibited by the

Horse Protection Act in order to obtain money from commercial clients who pay funds based upon said

false pretenses and representation, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343, with the

intent to promote and operate said specified unlawful activity, while knowing that the property involved

in the financial transactions represented the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity as follows:

COUNT DATE FINANCIAL TRANSACTION

16 On or about 1/15/2009 Check #1507 from Anne Whiteside in the amount 
of $515

17 On or about 2/15/2009 Check #1583 from Anne Whiteside in the amount 
of $515

18 On or about 3/15/2009 Check #1547 from Anne Whiteside in the amount 
of $515

19 On or about 3/02/2010 Check #1027 from Andy and Debbie Hagewood 
in the amount of $415

20 On or about 4/05/2010 Check #1078 from Andy and Debbie Hagewood 
in the amount of $515

21 On or about 5/01/2010 Check #1098 from Andy and Debbie Hagewood 
in the amount of $690

22 On or about 6/03/2010 Check #1062 from Andy and Debbie Hagewood 
in the amount of $1,105
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23 On or about 6/30/2010 Check #1104 from Andy and Debbie Hagewood 
in the amount of $1,320

24 On or about 7/30/2010 Check #1123 from Andy and Debbie Hagewood 
in the amount of $1,155

25 On or about 7/30/2010 Check #1124 from Andy and Debbie Hagewood 
in the amount of $1,000

26 On or about 8/24/2010 Check #1139 from Andy and Debbie Hagewood 
in the amount of $821

27 On or about 10/08/2010 Check #1166 from Andy and Debbie Hagewood 
in the amount of $1,240

28 On or about 12/05/2010 Check #1188 from Andy and Debbie Hagewood 
in the amount of $1,040

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(1)(A)(i) and 2.

FORFEITURE ALLEGATIONS - MONEY LAUNDERING

1. The allegations contained in Counts Fifteen through Twenty-Eight of this Indictment are

hereby realleged and incorporated by reference for the purpose of alleging forfeitures pursuant to Title

18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(1).

2. Pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(1), upon conviction of an offense

in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956, defendants BARNEY DAVIS and

CHRISTEN ALTMAN shall forfeit to the United States of America any property, real and personal,

involved in such offense, and any property traceable to such property. 

3. If any of the property described above, as a result of any act or omission of any of the

defendants: a.) cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence; b.) has been transferred or sold to,

or deposited with, a third party; c.) has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court; d.) has been

substantially diminished in value; or e.) has been commingled with other property which cannot be

divided without difficulty, the United States of America shall be entitled to forfeiture of substitute
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property pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p), as incorporated by Title 18, United

States Code, Section 982(b)(1).

COUNT TWENTY-NINE

The Grand Jury further charges that on or about July 30, 2010, in the Eastern District of

Tennessee, defendant BARNEY DAVIS, aided and abetted by others known and unknown to the grand

jury, did knowingly ship, transport, move, and deliver a horse, that is, Jose is My Daddy, which was sore,

with reason to believe that such horse, while it was sore, would be shown and exhibited in a horse show.

All in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Section 1824(1) and Title 18 United States Code,

Section 2.

COUNT THIRTY

The Grand Jury further charges that on or about July 30, 2010, in the Eastern District of

Tennessee, defendant BARNEY DAVIS, aided and abetted by others known and unknown to the grand

jury, did knowingly enter a horse, that is, Jose is My Daddy, which was sore, for the purpose of showing

and exhibiting such horse in a horse show.

All in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Section 1824(2)(B) and Title, 18 United States

Code, Section 2.

COUNT THIRTY-ONE

The Grand Jury further charges that on or about July 30, 2010, in the Eastern District of

Tennessee, defendant BARNEY DAVIS, CHRISTEN ALTMAN, and JEFFERY BRADFORD, aided

and abetted by others and one another, did knowingly make and cause to be made false entries and
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statements in a report, account, record, and memorandum required under Title 15, United States Code,

Section 1823; to wit, the name and signature of the trainer.

All in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Section 1825(a)(2)(B) and Title 18, United States

Code, Section 2.

COUNT THIRTY-TWO

The Grand Jury further charges that on or about October 2, 2010, in the Eastern District of

Tennessee, defendant PAUL BLACKBURN, aided and abetted by others known and unknown to the

grand jury, did knowingly ship, transport, move, and deliver a horse, that is, Silver Dollar Son, also

known as “Silver Dollar Sun,” which was sore, with reason to believe that such horse, while it was sore,

would be shown and exhibited in a horse show.

All in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Section 1824(1) and Title 18 United States Code,

Section 2.

COUNT THIRTY-THREE

The Grand Jury further charges that on or about October 2, 2010, in the Eastern District of

Tennessee, defendant PAUL BLACKBURN, aided and abetted by others known and unknown to the

grand jury, did knowingly enter a horse, that is, Silver Dollar Son, also known as “Silver Dollar Sun,” 

which was sore, for the purpose of showing and exhibiting such horse in a horse show.

All in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Section 1824(2)(B) and Title, 18 United States

Code, Section 2.
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COUNT THIRTY-FOUR

The Grand Jury further charges that on or about October 2, 2010, in the Eastern District of

Tennessee, defendants BARNEY DAVIS, CHRISTEN ALTMAN, and PAUL BLACKBURN, aided and

abetted by others and one another, did knowingly make and cause to be made false entries and statements

in a report, account, record, and memorandum required under Title 15, United States Code, Section 1823;

to wit, the name and signature of the trainer.

All in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Section 1825(a)(2)(B) and Title 18, United States

Code, Section 2.

A TRUE BILL:

                                                         
GRAND JURY FOREPERSON

WILLIAM C. KILLIAN
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

By:                                                           
    Steven S. Neff
     Assistant U.S. Attorney
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